
 
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 

BUREAU OF PURCHASE AND PROPERTY 
STATE HOUSE ANNEX 
25 CAPITOL STREET 

CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03301-6398 
 

ADDENDUM #1 TO RFP NO. 2016-059 
 
 
PROPOSAL DUE DATE and TIME:  October 28, 2016 by 4:00 p.m.  
 
FOR: Geographic Information System (GIS) Development 
 
PLEASE SEE THE FOLLOWING ATTACHMENTS:  
 
•  2016-059 DCR - DHR RFP Addendum #1 Q&A 09_16_16 
 
 
RFP POINT OF CONTACT:  Tanya Krajcik  
Email:   Tanya.Krajcik@dcr.nh.gov 
Phone:  603-271-6568 
 
 
NOTE: IN THE EVENT THAT YOUR PROPOSAL HAS BEEN SENT TO THIS OFFICE PRIOR 
TO RECEIVING THIS ADDENDUM, RETURN ADDENDUM WITHIN THE SPECIFIED TIME 
WITH ANY CHANGES YOU MAY WISH TO MAKE AND MARK ON THE REMITTANCE 
ENVELOPE RFP INVITATION NUMBER AND OPENING DATE. RETURNED ADDENDA WILL 
SUPERSEDE PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED PROPOSAL.  
  

mailto:Tanya.Krajcik@dcr.nh.gov
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GIS Development RFP Question and Answers 


09/16/16  


 


 


 1. What is the estimated cost of this effort? 


 The available funding is $68,000 


  2. Will the HPF grant cover the total cost? Can you disclose the amount of the grant award? 


 Yes.  This GIS project is one of a number of projects funded by our storm recovery grant; 


therefore, the total amount of the grant is irrelevant 


3. Who is the incumbent GIS provider? 


 We have never had a GIS provider 


4. Regarding this statement: “NHDHR seeks to create a GIS of known historical resources in the state, 


enabling it to partner with a wide variety of users and to merge historical resource data with already-


existing GIS layers maintained by other sources.” Can the state elaborate on the “other sources” and 


incumbent existing GIS vendors? 


 
“Other sources” would be GIS layers already in existence such as town boundaries, base maps, etc.   


5. Can you disclose who will be users of the system? How many users are anticipated? 


 
 Users will be the general public along with archaeologists, architectural historians, partner state 


and federal agencies and researchers.  Currently, the DHR has approximately 40 individuals per month 


visiting our office to view our records.  They typically research multiple projects per visit.  We anticipate 


the web application to replace the need for office visits.  We also anticipate an increase of researchers 


once our data is accessible online  


6. Can you disclose other agencies/systems that this System will have to integrate or interface with? 


None, unless the solution involves partnering with DoIT or another vendor for security or storage 


7. Which storage solution does the state prefer? (cloud/hosted, on premise, or hybrid combination)? If 


on premise, are servers/hardware already in place to support the data? 
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 We do not have a preferred storage solution at this time.  New Virtual servers would need to 
be requested and set up if you choose to house the data within the State 


 
8. Has a time line been established for when the State would like this in 


place/implemented/operational? 
 


 February 1, 2017 – Estimated Start Date 
March 20, 2018 – Desired GIS Project Completion 


 
 


9. Do you anticipate any consultants will be hired to aid with this effort, and/or act as a project 
manager? 


 We have already hired a part-time GIS specialist to assist us.  


10. Was a consultant or other third party services acquired to develop this RFP? If so, who and 
when? 


 No 
 


11. Has a State technical contact/project manager been assigned to this effort and if so, can you 
share whom? 


 Tanya Krajcik is the NHDHR project manager; Rebecca Bolton from DoIT is our technical advisor 


 
12. Page # 32, Section C-2, 1st Paragraph – The RFP mentions Table C-2 is included as an attachment to 


RFP 2016-059. Can the State let us know where this table can be found? 


 Table C-2 is an attachment to the RFP PDF 


13. Can the State let us know the number of reports and document-generation templates (forms) 


required as part of initial implementation? 


The exact number will be decided during GIS design.  We are estimating between 10 and 30 reports 


14. Can the State let us know the number of users?  


 See answer above 


15. Does the State require the proposed system to integrate with the State’s existing systems? If yes, 


can the State list the existing systems that will need integration? 


 Our existing Microsoft Access databases can be either integrated or the data migrated to the 


new system, depending on the proposed solution   
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16. How many paid users/subscribers do they anticipate? Page 25, section C-1, final bullet point. 


See answer above 


17. How many guest or non-paid users will be accessing/using the GIS? Page 25, section C-1, final bullet 


point. 


See answer above 


18. Are your Access DBs accessible outside your environment? Page 28, section labelled DHR 


Databases, paragraph 1.  


 No 


19. Are the scanned documents referenced in the Access database via absolute or relative links to a 


local file system, or using URLs, or if not, are the documents accessible using a naming convention 


such that we can use token replacement to generate URLs to documents automatically? Page 25, 


section C-1, paragraph 1 and Page 30 paragraph 1. 


 The scanned documents are currently unlinked to the Access databases.  Each document name 


corresponds to the unique ID in the databases   


20. Is the storing of the scanned documents within the scope of this project? Page 25, section C-1, 


paragraph 1. 


 Yes 


21. In the case of an audit of the contractor, can it be conducted remotely to avoid the burden of 


paying for travel costs? Page 85, section H-25.13.6, paragraph 3. 


 Yes 


22. Does the not-to-exceed cost in the RFP exclude the initial cost of the software? It reads as 


though it’s just the design, development, implementation and maintenance for the first year, which 


seems like it would exclude the cost of the software itself. Page 49, Appendix F, paragraph 1. 


 No 


23. Can you provide pricing on the State of New Hampshire’s IT hosting environment? If not, can you 


provide a contact so that we can obtain those numbers for price comparison. Page 51, section F-5, 


paragraph 1. 


 Please contact Rebecca Bolton, IT Manager, Agency Software Division, NH Department of 


Information Technology, (603) 230-3461, Rebecca.Bolton@doit.nh.gov 


 



mailto:Rebecca.Bolton@doit.nh.gov
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24. Page 13, Section 4.17.6, Section III: Responses to System Requirements and Deliverables – states 


“Using the response tables in Appendix C, the Vendor must document the ability to meet the 


Requirements and Deliverables of this RFP.” I do not see any response tables in Appendix C.  


Appendix C, Section C-2 Requirements (page 32) states: Vendors shall complete the requirements 


checklist (Table C-2 General Requirements Vendor Response Checklist. Table C-2 is included as an 


attachment to RFP 2016-059. There are no attachments to the RFP.  


The response table is included as an attachment within the PDF.  See screenshot: 


 


 


25. Page 32, Appendix D: Topics for Mandatory Narrative Responses starts with a table that lists topics 


and page limits for each narrative. This table is followed by full descriptions of the topics and again 


includes page limits for each. However, the full topic descriptions (pages 33 – 44) do not seem to match 


the topics in the table (pages 32 - 33). For example, Topic 1 in the table is “Software Architecture” and 


the page limit is 3. Topic 1 in the descriptions is “Solution, Deliverables, and Services Offered” and the 


page limit is 8.  


Another example - in the table, the first item under D-2.1 Security and Protection of Data is “Topic 7 - 


System Security” with a limit of 10 pages. In the narrative, the first item under D-2.1 Security and 


Protection of Data is “Topic 10 - System Security and the Hosted Environment” with a limit of 6 pages. 


Which section is the correct one to use for the narrative responses in the proposal, the table (pages 32 - 


33) or the descriptions (pages 33 – 44)?  


 You can use the maximum number 


 


26. Page 49, Appendix F: Pricing Worksheets, first paragraph, in the second sentence it states that the 


project budget for design, development, implementation and the first year of maintenance is not to 


exceed $68,000.  Is this budget value intended to cover all project costs for the selected Vendor (e.g. 
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labor, hardware, software, training services and other licensing and fees) through the first year after 


implementation? 


 Yes 


 


27. Page 25, Scope of Work: Has the New Hampshire data been geocoded or will the contractor be 


required to geocode the data? 


 All data has NH State Plane, feet coordinates and/or GIS vector data. No geocoding is necessary 


 


28. On page 2 of the RFP, the contract is presented as a Not To Exceed (NTE) contract. 


Later in the RFP, the contract vehicle is specified as firm, fixed price. Can the state 


confirm that this is a “firm, fixed price” contract and not a “cost not to exceed” contract?   


 This is a NTE contract 


 


29.  Pages 5 and 12. The due date in the Transmittal Form Letter (page 12) is October 14. 


The due date on page 5, Section 2 Schedule of Events is October 28. Please confirm 


the due date.  


 October 28 is the due date 


 


30. Pages 5 and 16. Page 5 states interview date as November 18, 2016. Page 16 states 


the oral interview date for vendor(s) is stated to be October 7, 2016. We assume that the 


October 7th date is incorrect. Please confirm the correct date. 


 November 18 is the correct date 


 


31. Page 28, re: “data mining”. Historic research and project scoping can necessitate cultural 
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resource professionals evaluate known resources over fairly large areas. Can the State 


point to a definition of “data mining” that differentiates it from background research? 


 Background research should be limited to the geographical project area and an appropriate 


buffer zone based on research needs.  Accessing data outside of the project area buffer zone would be 


considered “data mining”.  Our office has had issues with data miners in the past where a large amount 


of unnecessary data gathering occurred for purposes such as intent to sell our data or obtaining a static 


copy of our data that would quickly be considered “out of date” due to new data being frequently 


collected by DHR 


 


32. Page 28 and ff. “Only the indexed fields are to be included in the GIS”. In the 


accompanying diagrams, fields that have indexes are all primary key fields or foreign key 


fields (to lookup tables). Are these the fields that will be included in the GIS? Or is there 


a concise list? 


 These fields will be included in the GIS.  Additional fields may be added during development, but 


not many 


33. Page 32. Appendix D. Topics for Mandatory Narrative Responses. The table with page 


limits for Sections and Topics does not correspond with the narrative Sections and 


Topics and Page Limits presented on pp 3244. 


Please clarify the correct Section names, Topic names, and page limits, respectively, for the proposal. 


 Ignore the table and default to the narrative 


 


34. Page 32. Appendix D. Topics for Mandatory Narrative responses. Do page limits for 


“narrative” include space or pages taken up with charts, figures, or tables? 


 Please do your best to keep to the page limit.  If charts, figures or tables are included that will be 


beneficial for us to understand your approach, then going over the page limit is acceptable 
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35. Page 45 E1.1.2 


FInancial Strength. As a privately held firm, our financial records are business confidential, proprietary 


documents that are not disclosed except under nondisclosure agreement. Can a summary statement of 


financial standing be provided in lieu of statements or tax returns. 


 Yes 


 36. Page 47, Section E2.1. 


Section 4.2 indicates that the State is providing a Project Manager. Is there an estimate of baseline 


availability for this position for this project, e.g, # hours per week?, that can be used as a guide to 


proposing level of commitment? 


 Availability is as needed.  The project manager assumes that more time will be spend during the 


beginning of the project. 


37. Business Requirement B4.6. Is this requirement basically a summary of items B4.7 through B4.10? If 


not, what is a “comprehensive” training as opposed to those specified in B4.7 through B4.10?  


 Yes, it is more of a summary 


38. The Business Requirements section states that Access Databases will be “migrated as part of this 


project”. Elsewhere, the RFP says that the State may continue to use the Access databases. Can the 


State clarify the purpose and “mandatory” status of B9.1 through B9.4 migration? 


 It may be clearer to say that the data within the Access databases will need to be migrated to 


the GIS 


39. Appendix G2. TEsting Requirements. Will the State cover the costs of its part of any testing 


activities? E.g., provide staff and oversee its own UAT, stress, performance, and system integration 


testing to be performed by the state? 


 The State will provide staff to perform the UAT; the vendor is responsible for all other testing 


activities 


40. Appendix G2. Certificates. Please confirm that the Certificate of Good Standing and the Certificate of 


Authority are only required upon contract award. 


This is correct  


41. Appendix H, Page 80, Section H-25.12.5, Intellectual Property, states that the section “MAY NEED 


TO BE CHANGED”.   Has the State finalized its language for this point, and if so what is that final 







STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
Department of Cultural Resources, Division of Historical Resources 


Geographic Information System (GIS) Development 
DCR/DHR - RFP 2016-059 


 
 
language?  Based on the “MAY NEED TO BE CHANGED” language, are we entitled to edit this Section in 


the Proposal, notwithstanding the attestation required by Section 4.17.2? 


 “MAY NEED TO BE CHANGED” language should not have been contained in the RFP.  We will 


consider vendor-specific intellectual property requirements 


42. The requirements to download PDF files (Page 25 of 98) and monitor time of interaction (Page 26 of 


98) on the surface seem to be potentially contradictory since downloading a file would allow unlimited 


access.  Do you see these functionalities occurring in different use cases, if so could you please 


elaborate? 


 Monitoring time of interaction WITHIN the application, only 


 


43. The requirements mention using existing Access databases (Page 28 of 98), is it your desire to 


continue to maintain access database going forward or to migrate to an relational database such as SQL 


server? 


 We are open to either solution 


44. Regarding the requirement for monthly (28 of 98) data pushes (as opposed to real-time/near real-


time data synchronization) .  Do you envision this in context of a work management system that 


incorporates a monthly review of new data before posting? 


 We review our data as we enter it into the database.  We will most-likely incorporate an 


additional review system before new data gets pushed into the GIS 


45. Section 1.2 (pg. 2) indicates that “The State plans to execute a Not to Exceed (NTE) Contract as a 


result of this RFP.” Is there a specific maximum budget for this project, and if so, can this please be 


shared? More specifically, the RFI that preceded this RFP, stated a specific budget amount for this 


project during the question and answer period. Is that figure accurate as the NTE amount for this 


project?  


The not to exceed amount is $68,000.  See page 49, Appendix F 


46. C-1 (pg. 25) states “The system must have the ability to create reports from any query/buffer results.” 


Please clarify the types of reporting that are expected. Is this intended to be a set of pre-defined report 


formats, or something beyond this? 


Predefined report formats.  For example, a user can query all National Register listed 


properties within the town of Concord and the report would show the results. Another 


example would be to query all archaeological sites within 5 kilometers of a user-defined 


xy point. The report would list the results 
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47. C-1 (pg. 25) discusses a paid subscription service. Please clarify the separation of payment system 


and authentication. That is, is it intended that the payment system for subscriptions is outside of the 


scope of this project? 


Payment system is outside the scope of this project.  Within the scope would be a 


means for the application to “turn on” a pre-approved subscriber, assuming by means of 


a unique username and password 


 


48. Pg 26 discusses the need to allow DHR staff to view access logs to include documents viewed and 


length of access time? Does this mean the length of time logged into the application or length of time 


viewing a document? Please elaborate. 


Length of time within the application, only 


 


49. Pg 26 describes the need for 508 accessibility? Are there any exemptions for dynamic web mapping 


(i.e., colored symbology). It is typically difficult for web mapping applications to fully address 508 


accessibility, therefore, does NH DoIT have any guidelines or requirements for map-centric applications 


such as that proposed?  


 508 accessibility needs to be incorporated into the application to the extent possible given the 


nature of the application 


 


50. Page 26 discusses that the application must adhere to the NPS CR Spatial Data transfer standards. 


Are there particular sections of the standards that are of particular interest?  


Not necessarily.  I recommend concentrating on the standards, not the implementation 


model 


 


51. Page 29 indicates that “only the indexed fields will be integrated into GIS”. Does this refer to Access 


indices, and also how many Indexed fields exist? 


 


All the fields listed within the table on page 28 will be integrated into the GIS. Additional 


fields may be added during development, but not many 


 


52. Regarding the 14 feature classes referred to on page 31. Do all of these feature classes already exist 


and are they up to date? In general, are the GIS datasets that will be published to the public via the web 


application available, accurate and ready to be published, or is there a level of effort regarding GIS data 


conversion/creation that is expected of the consultant?  
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We are currently adding data to the feature classes.  All data will be application-ready 


and up to date by the project start time.  


 


53. Topics 2, 3 and 4 on page 34-35 has a number of references to “financial institutions”, “bank 


statements”, and “asset verification service”. Do these sections contain errors or typos? Can you please 


elaborate on what is being asked here? This engagement has nothing to do with financial assets. 


 These are examples; please disregard those that do not apply to this particular project. 


 
 


54. Section D-2 requests information on “system assurance provisions”. Can you please elaborate on 


what is being requested here? 


Respond to questions/areas as appropriate for your solution. 


 


 


55. The RFP states that the vendor can propose a vendor hosted solution or state hosted solution. Does 


the State DoIT have a preference?  


DoIT does not have a preference 


 


56. D2.5 discussed On-going operations such as Help Desk support. Does the State have a maintenance 


budget in place for supporting the application beyond year one? More specifically, if the support costs 


beyond year one are beyond the budget of the State, will that be reflected negatively in the proposal 


evaluation/scoring? 


The state does not have a maintenance budget beyond the one year.  It is our intent to utilize 


the subscription fees to cover ongoing maintenance costs.  Ongoing maintenance costs do factor 


into the overall scoring 


 


57. Page 25 indicates that “progress indicators should be provided for any process that takes more than 


1 second to complete”. Would the state consider an increase of this time threshold to 3 seconds or 


some other value? 


Yes, 3 seconds is acceptable 


 


58. Page 32, Appendix D, Table: The topics outlined in the table don’t match up with the topics outlined 


in more detail below the table. For example, within the table, Topic 1 is Software Architecture with a 


page limit of 3 pages. Below the table, Topic 1 is Solution, Deliverables and Services Offered with a page 


limit of 8 pages. Can you confirm the topics and page limitations?  
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 Ignore the table and default to the narrative 


59. Page 14, Section 4.17.11 Section VIII, 1st Paragraph: This section mentions that a copy of the RFP and 


any addenda are required in the original proposal only. Can you explain what is meant by “copy of the 


RFP”? 


  One copy of the GIS RFP needs to be attached to the original proposal 


60. Page 32, Section C-2 Requirements, 1st Paragraph: Is Table C-2 General Requirements Vendor 


Response Checklist the same as the attached Contract Requirements_08043016 PDF and Excel 


documents? 


 Yes 


 
 





